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INTRODUCTION

At the height of anti-
government protests in Sri 
Lanka in April 2022, Prime 
Minister Mahinda Rajapaksa 
repeatedly invoked past 
mass atrocities as a reason 
for demonstrators to stand 
down. He equated pro-
democracy protestors in 2022 
with those who had opposed 
the government in the late 
eighties and paid a terrible 
price for it. He said, 
regarding the past:

The blood of our 
youth flowed along 
the streets as those 
parties rejected 
democracy. Thousands 
of young people were 
burned alive in 
tires [sic] as that 
movement took wind. 
So much so that 
1988/1989 proved 
to be the darkest 
age in our history 
as this rebellion 
claimed over 60,000 
young lives. Your 

that numerous Sinhalese 
parents went to Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa in 1989 to ask 
about the whereabouts of 
their disappeared children; 
they also witnessed him being 
present at detention sites. 
At the time families testified 
to the Commissions, Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa was a little-
known army colonel; 30 years 
later he would become Sri 
Lanka’s President, having 
been implicated in war crimes 
during the war between the 
Government of Sri Lanka 
(GoSL) and the Liberation 
Tigers of Tamil Eelam (LTTE) 
in his then position as 
Defence Secretary. It is 
significant that before he 
became a well known political 
figure, survivors recalled 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa’s presence 
in Matale at the various 
schools and guest houses 
documented as notorious 
torture sites at the time. 

In at least one case, Mahinda 
Rajapaksa wrote in late 1989 
to his brother, Gotabaya, to 
ask about the whereabouts of 
a supporter of his political 
party, the Sri Lanka Freedom 
Party (SLFP), who had been 
detained, but whose location 
had not been confirmed. 
Ironically in the eighties 
Mahinda was a co-founder of 
the Mothers’ Front, which 
represented families of the 
disappeared.5 However, by 
2009 he had become the head 
of a government which itself 
was accused of perpetrating 
extensive enforced 
disappearances. In addition, 
the local SLFP party 
parliamentarian appealed 
to Gotabaya Rajapaksa on 

elders will remember 
the massive effort 
we put in to saving 
those young lives 
then.1

What Mahinda Rajapaksa 
overlooked was the alleged 
role of his own brother, 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa, and many 
of his close allies, in those 
atrocities perpetrated mainly 
against Sinhalese. 

Sri Lankan President, 
Nandasena Gotabaya Rajapaksa, 
spent almost two decades in 
the Sri Lankan Army, much of 
it fighting Tamil militants; 
but often overlooked is the 
key role he played in the 
brutal counter-insurgency 
operations in Sri Lanka’s 
predominantly Sinhala 
provinces in the late 1980s. 
This report focuses on his 
role as District Military 
Coordinating Officer of Matale 
District2,an area seen as 
a stronghold of the armed 
group, the Janatha Vimukthi 
Peramuna (JVP), or People’s 
Liberation Front, which was 
ultimately brutally crushed 
by the army.3

behalf of many families of 
the disappeared. Mothers, 
and other relatives of those 
abducted and detained, 
repeatedly visited the Vijaya 
College army camp in Matale, 
where Gotabaya Rajapaksa was 
based, to seek information 
about their family members. 
Vijaya College had been a 
local school and was known 
to have been taken over by 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa’s security 
forces, at which point it 
functioned as a detention 
site, where suspects were 
unlawfully detained and 
tortured. It was common 
practice for the army to take 
over schools and university 
building and use them for 
detention and torture.6 Local 
human rights organisations, 
individual lawyers and the 
Bar Association of Sri Lanka, 
among others, raised their 
concerns publicly about 
Vijaya College camp. It was 
well known that people were 
stopped and detained at 
checkpoints, or as part of 
round-ups and mass arrests in 
villages, and were abducted 
by officials who identified 
themselves as belonging to 
the state security services 
using unmarked government 
vehicles. Those detained and 
abducted included young men 
and boys from villages in the 
areas. Gotabaya Rajapaksa 
knew, or should have known, 
that soldiers under his 
command were responsible 
for these widespread and 
systematic human rights 
violations. He chose not 
to act. Instead, he was 
instrumental in the wider Sri 
Lankan Government’s counter-
insurgency strategy.7

Gotabaya Rajapaksa was posted 
to Matale District in Sri 
Lanka’s Central Province 
between May 1989 and January 
1990, a period investigated 
by four subsequent Sri Lankan 
Presidential Commissions 
mandated to investigate 
incidents of disappearance of 
persons from 1 January 1988 
onwards. These Sri Lankan 
Government Commissions listed 
the names of at least 700 
people – mainly Sinhalese – 
who disappeared during the 
period Gotabaya Rajapaksa 
was in charge of Matale. 
The full lists, reproduced 
from the Commissions’ public 
documents, are annexed to 
this report.

As District Coordinator in 
charge of the administration, 
including the police and 
army, Gotabaya Rajapaksa 
would have known about the 
scale of violence in the 
small district of Matale,home 
to about 350,000 people at 
the time.4 It was a period 
of mass atrocity crimes, 
when headless corpses 
littered fields and heads 
were displayed on spikes by 
the wayside and on bridges; 
hardly anybody was unaware of 
the terror being unleashed. 
Indeed, evidence exists 

The abductions, unlawful 
detentions, torture and 
killings were well documented 
inside the country by a 
number of government-
established Commissions of 
inquiry. Sadly no follow 
up action resulted. The 
documenting of survivor 
testimonies is in itself 
an extraordinary story: in 
Matale, like many other 
districts, a team of 
dedicated Sri Lankan civil 
servants was deployed to the 
area just five years after the 
mass abductions and killings. 
They recorded and extensive 
testimony from complainants 
and witnesses, drew up 
detailed lists of alleged 
perpetrators, analysed 
patterns and trends, and 
actually recommended charges 
be filed against police and 
army officers. Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa’s name is one of 
the names on those lists as 
an alleged perpetrator.

The Commissions mandated by 
a newly-elected government 
under President Chandrika 
Kumarantunga were keen, 
ostensibly, to hold her 
predecessors accountable. 
As part of her presidential 
campaign, President Chandrika 
Kumaratunga committed her 
government to seeking justice 
and accountability to the 
families of the disappeared. 
Reports were drawn up and 
long detailed lists of 
victims’ names were published 
in a limited edition print 
run, but surprisingly 
the names of the alleged 
perpetrators, who remained 
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in office, were not published 
and were suppressed. Though 
it was recommended, judicial 
action, against security 
officials and politicians 
largely fizzled out due to 
lack of political will and 
the need to ensure that 
military recruitment needs 
were met so that they were 
able to deal with war against 
the Tamils in the north 
and east of the country. 
Furthermore, the names of 
alleged perpetrators were 
placed under a government 
secrecy order set up to run 
until 2030, by which time 
many will in all likelihood 
no longer be alive to be 
brought to justice.

Despite all the hopes and 
many initiatives taken by 
the victims, the political 
will, as well as expediency 
on the part of the Government 
of Sri Lanka at the time, 
meant that momentum to hold 
accountable the security 
forces quickly dissipated. 
Political expediency was 
manifest in part because the 
civil war against the Tamils 
in the north east intensified, 
and recruitment to the armed 
forces was at a peak. The 
government was warned that it 
was an extremely inexpedient 
moment to hold security 
forces accountable, or to 
try and reform the police 
and army, given the need to 
increase recruitment. This 
political inaction set the 
stage for prolonged impunity 
and repeated mass atrocities, 
with many of the same army 
officers implicated in the 

2009 mass atrocity crimes 
as in the 1989 atrocities. 
Decades later, many political 
actors have switched parties 
and allegiances so often 
that it’s impossible to 
disentangle them from any 
of the power structures 
sufficiently to deliver 
accountability. The memory 
of what happened in 1989 
to tens of thousands of 
Sinhalese families has been 
suppressed, papered over by 
Sinhala Buddhist nationalism 
and anti-Tamil sentiment. 
Meanwhile several of the 
police and army officers named 
by the Commissions in their 
never-published reports rose 
to the very top of their 
institutions, untouched 
by allegations they were 
involved in mass killings of 
their own people. The list of 
perpetrators also included a 
number of politicians.

Today, the current President, 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa, the Army 
Commander, Shavendra Silva, 
and the Secretary of Defence, 
General G D H Kamal Gunaratne 
– who are arguably the three 
most powerful men in Sri 
Lanka – are all veterans of 
the 1989 counter-insurgency 
operation in which tens of 
thousands of Sri Lankans were 
extrajudicially killed. All 
three are also officers who 
held key positions of command 
during the 2009 war. 
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leave and went to the USA to 
see his family.”11 

The official Gajaba Regiment 
website states that Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa was Commander of 
the 1st Battalion of the 
Gajaba Regiment from 8 July 
1989 till 26 January 1991.12 

The ITJP has analysed the 
available data, on the 
assumption that Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa became Acting 
Commander of the 1st 
Battalion of the Gajaba 
Regiment (1GR) on 1 May 
1989, and then fully-fledged 
Commander from 8 July 1989, 
and that he left Matale in 
January 1990.13 

THE DISTRICT MILITARY 
COORDINATOR’S ROLE 

Gotabaya was the District 
Military Coordinating 
Officer. In the simplified 
chain of command, the 
District Coordinating Officer 
would typically also be 
Commander of a battalion 
assigned permanently to 
the district.14 Historians 
note that the Coordinating 
Officer controlled all 
security forces deployed in 

TIME FRAME

Career history in ANNEXURE 1 

Gotabaya Rajapaksa served 
in the 1st battalion of the 
Gajaba Regiment (1GR) of the 
Sri Lankan Army from 1983 to 
1990, initially as Second 
in Command and then as the 
battalion Commander.8 In his 
official biography of Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa, C A Chandraprema9 
[currently Sri Lanka’s 
Permanent Representative to 
the United Nations in Geneva] 
wrote: 

“On 1 May 1989… Gotabaya 
was made the commanding 
officer of the 1st battalion 
of the Gajaba regiment. 
This was now a permanent 
appointment unlike the 
temporary command he held 
during the Vadamarachchi 
operation.”10

Chandraprema adds: 

“With this promotion he was 
posted to Matale as District 
Military Coordinating Officer 
until the end of the 2nd JVP 
insurrection (officially 13 
Nov 1989). In January 1990, 
he applied for three months 

their districts, including 
intelligence, and that they 
operated in a decentralised 
environment where some 
dispensed with ‘the tedious 
business of legal process’ 
designed to protect citizens’ 
rights.15 

As District Commander of 
Matale district and of 
the 1st Gajaba Regiment, 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa’s line of 
command would have required 
that he report to the Chief 
Coordinator Officer, who was 
also the Brigade Commander, 
who in turn reported to a 
Divisional Commander or Area 
Commander.16 The reporting 
chain went up to Colonel 
Wimalaratne17, Principal Staff 
Officer (PSO) at the Joint 
Operations Command (JOC), who 
also served as its Director 
of Operations. Wimalaratne 
reported to the Army Chief 
of Staff, General L D C E 
Waidyaratne (commonly known 
as Cecil Waidyaratne), who 
reported to Army Commander 
Hamilton Wanasinghe,18   with 
the latter reporting to 
the Minister of State for 
Defence, Ranjan Wijeratne. 

1.GOTABAYA 
RAJAPAKSA’S ROLE 

IN 1989
GOTABAYA RAJAPAKSA
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Gotabaya Rajapaksa’s official 
biography states, ‘After 
Gota took over the Matale 
district, detachments were 
posted to every strategic 
location indicating that 
as commanding officer, 
Gotabaya had control over 
the entire district, not 
just the town.’19 It also 
notes that when a relative 
of an opposition Member 
of Parliament from Matara 
district, Mahinda Wijesekera, 
was detained, it was to 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa that 
he went to plead for his 
release. 

SUBORDINATES

The current Commander of 
the Army, General Shavendra 
Silva, was Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa’s subordinate 
officer in 1989 in Matale.20 
Gotabaya’s other company 
Commanders at this time were 
reportedly Jagath Dias21, 
who went on to become Army 
Chief of Staff, and Sumedha 
Perera, who became Deputy 
Chief of Army Staff and who 
was then appointed as a civil 
servant by President Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa 2019-21.22 According 
to witness testimony, the man 
President Mahinda Rajapaksa 
appointed as the post-war 
police chief in 2009, the 
late Mahinda Balasuriya, 
also served under Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa in Matale in 1989. 

SUPERIORS

Gotabaya Rajapaksa’s 
deployment to Matale 
District coincided with the 
development of the counter-
insurgency strategy by 
then Minister of State for 
Defence, Ranjan Wijeratne. 
In an interview with Rivira 
newspaper in February 2016, 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa described 
the opposition in some 
quarters to his posting to 
Matale because his brother 
Mahinda Rajapaksa, ironically 
at the time, was known to 
be a human rights activist 
highlighting violations 
committed by the army: 

When I was sent to 
Matale with my unit, 
the parliamentarians 
in the area had told 
Mr. Ranjan Wijeratne, 
“how can we work - 
it is one of Mahinda 
Rajapaksa’s brothers 
who has been sent 
to this area. 
Mahinda Rajapaksa 
is supporting 
the JVP against 
us and therefore 
this decision will 
create problems”. 
Ranjan Wijeratne 
had shared this 
with the then Army 
commander Wanasinghe 
(Hamilton).       

So, the Army 
Commander had told 
General Wimalaratne, 
“let’s transfer him 
and put someone else 
in his position”. 
At the time, General 
Wimalaratne was in 
charge of the Gajaba 
Regiment. General 
Wimalaratne had told 
the army commander 
that, ‘it is okay 
to remove him from 
the post of military 
coordinator (Matale 
district), since 
it is a post given 
by the government, 
but he should not 
be removed from the 
post of Commanding 
Officer of the 
Gajaba Regiment. 
Because the post of 
regiment commander 
is something he well 
deserve[s].’ He has 
further told army 
commander” send 
the entire unit to 
some other area if 
he is going to be 
removed from the 
post of ‘military 
coordinator’. So,the 
army commander has 

reported this back 
to the minister, 
Ranjan Wijeratne. 
Subsequently Ranjan 
came to meet me. 
I explained to him 
what my plan is. 
After the discussion 
and the lunch 
that followed, 
Ranjan Wijeratne 
met me alone and 
said that ‘the 
parliamentarians 
in the area have 
asked me to remove 
you because you are 
Mahinda Rajapaksa’s 
brother. But when 
I told that to the 
army commander, he 
said that you are 
an honest officer. 
You may continue 
the work. If you 
encounter any 
problem, don’t tell 
anyone else, but 
tell me and I will 
sort that out.”23

This interview suggests 
that Gotabaya Rajapaksa was 
protected by the senior 
command structure at the 
time, and had a direct 
channel of communication to 
the relevant minister and 

military command. It was 
his legal responsibility to 
report any violations of 
human rights to his superior 
officers, and this shows he 
had the capability to do so, 
but failed to do it. 

The interview also raises 
questions about why, as 
an erstwhile human rights 
activist, Mahinda Rajapaksa 
failed to report on the 
extensive violations in the 
district controlled by his 
brother – and still ignores 
them to this day. 
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CHAIN OF COMMAND

AREA ONE 
 
Southern, 
Sabaragamuwa and Uva 
Provinces and Western 
Province minus 
Colombo district

LT. COL. NANDASENA 
GOTABAYA RAJAPAKSA
CO 1GR, Military 
Coordinating Officer, 
Matale District

Chief Coordinating 
Officer (brigade 
level)

Divisional/Area 
Commander

Noting the country 
was placed under 
three area commands.

PRESIDENT RANASINGHE 
PREMADASA
Minister of Defence 
and Commander in 
Chief

COL. VIJAYA
WIMALARATNE 
PSO at Joint 
Operations Command 
(JOC) and Director of 
Operations

RANJAN WIJERATNE
Minister of State for 
Defence

GEN. HAMILTON 
WANASINGHE
Army Commander Lt

GEN. CECIL 
WAIDYARATNE 
Army Chief of Staff

AREA TWO 

North Central, 
Central and North 
Western Provinces 
under

AREA THREE 

Northern and Eastern 
Provinces

                          Reporting to

     
     

      
        

  Report
ing to

     
       

         
     Report

ing to

     
       

         
     Report

ing to

                          Reporting to

               Reporting to

      
      

      
       

         
 Reporting to 2.GOVERNMENT 

INVESTIGATIONS – FULL 
REPORTS KEPT SECRET

Central, North Western, North 
Central and Uva Provinces; 
Northern and Eastern 
Provinces and Western, 
Southern and the Sabaragamuwa 
Provinces. They were mandated 
to inquire, inter alia, 
‘whether any persons have 
been involuntarily removed or 
have disappeared from their 
places of residence after 
January 1, 1988’.28

During the three years 
of their existence, the 
three Zonal Commissions 
received and analysed 27,526 
complaints, out of which some 
16,800 cases were deemed to 
be enforced disappearances. 
The Commissions found 
‘credible material indicative 
of those responsible’ in 
1,681 cases,29 and compiled 
lists of names of several 
hundred alleged perpetrators, 
mostly from the Armed Forces 
(Army, Navy and Air Force) 
and police, but also some 
politicians, Home Guards, 
members of the National 
Auxiliary Force30 and village 
officers (grama niladharis). 

The reports of these three 
Zonal Commissions of Inquiry 
were submitted to the 

President in September 1997, 
with their observations and 
recommendations made public. 
Their findings in respect of 
individual complaints, which 
were included in separate 
annexes, have to date not 
been published but are said 
to be held in the government 
Archives under a secrecy ban 
until 2030.  

As a follow-up, in April 1998  
the President established 
the All Island Commission 
of Inquiry into Involuntary 
Removal and Disappearances 
of Certain Persons (known as 
the All Island Commission 
or AIC) to inquire into the 
10,136 complaints submitted 
to, but not investigated by, 
the three Zonal Commissions.31 
It completed its Final 
Report in 2001, having 
investigated 4,473 complaints 
of enforced disappearances.32 
The All Island Commission’s 
recommendations and 
observations were made 
public, but again not its 
findings relating to alleged 
individual perpetrators. 
However, the ITJP is aware 

THE PRESIDENTIAL COMMISSIONS 
OF INQUIRY INTO THE 
INVOLUNTARY REMOVAL OR 
DISAPPEARANCE OF PERSONS

Three Commissions24 were 
established in 1994 by 
President Chandrika 
Kumaratunga, after she 
was elected to power, to 
look into complaints of 
‘involuntary removals’25 
and disappearances that 
occurred after 1 January 
1988. Complaints regarding 
Matale District were filed 
before both the Central 
Zone Commission (CZC) and 
the All Island Commission 
(AIC). The All Island 
Commission’s mandate 
authorised it to inquire 
into complaints received by 
the Zonal Commissions, and 
given that ‘no investigations 
were conducted by the Zonal 
Commissions’ (vide p45 of 
the AIC Report), there was 
no inquiry into 16,305 
complaints received by the 
AIC.26 The AIC produced a final 
report that was given to the 
President of Sri Lanka, which 
is available online.27

Each Commission covered a 
specific geographical area: 
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of the confidential list of 
318 alleged perpetrators 
named in their report by the 
AIC against whom sufficient 
evidence was found to warrant 
criminal investigations33. 
These and the perpetrators 
named by the three Zonal 
Commissions should now be 
made public. 

HOW SRI LANKA’S POLITICIANS 
BETRAYED THE ACCOUNTABILITY 
AGENDA

Once the Commissions’ reports 
were in, President Chandrika 
Kumaratunga initially 
seemed prepared to allow 
criminal investigations and 
prosecutions to proceed. For 
instance, after she received 
the Central Zone Commission’s 
first interim reports, she 
sent a directive to the 
Inspector of Police and the 
Secretary of the Ministry 
of Defence ordering them 
to initiate investigations 
based on the reports and 
to report back within one 
month.34 However, even though 
some military officers were 
initially sent to check 
files at the offices of the 
Commissions, the then Deputy 
Minister of Defence (and the 
President’s uncle), Anuruddha 
Ratwatte, later denied that 
they had received such 
orders. Furthermore, in the 
context of the continuing 
conflict in the north and 
east, there were a large 
number of disappearances 
being reported under 
Chandrika Kumaratunga’s own 
presidency.35 In addition, 
once the UNP won the 2001 

parliamentary elections 
and its leader, Ranil 
Wickremasinghe, became Prime 
Minister and the focus was 
on the Norwegian-mediated 
peace process with the 
LTTE, President Kumaratunga 
had to share power in an 
unwieldy arrangement. In 
all probability, the lack 
of genuine follow-up to the 
work of the Commissions lies 
in the fact that as the army 
was engaged in the war in the 
north and east during this 
period, the government was 
beholden to the armed forces. 
36

Nevertheless, President 
Kumaratunga authorised the 
main parts of the reports of 
the Commissions to be made 
public, but the annexes which 
also included the lists of 
alleged perpetrators were not 
published37.  Distribution 
of the reports was limited. 
The Asian Human Rights 
Commission, an international 
human rights organisation, 
digitised and made some 
of them available on the 
internet, but the government 
never did so, even though by 
the time the reports were 
handed over, the internet 
existed, and it would have 
been easy to put them 
online.38

Consequently, few are aware 
of the contents of these 
reports, in full. They do not 
even know the names of the 
persons against whom credible 
evidence exists indicative 
of their responsibility for 
thousands of disappearances. 
The lists included the names 
not only of police and 

security forces personnel 
but also of politicians and 
civilians.39 

COMMISSIONS’ DOCUMENTATION 

The work of these 
Commissions contributed to 
the documentation of human 
rights violations in this 
period and the history of the 
JVP conflict in Sri Lanka. 
Commissioners and staff spent 
an extensive amount of time 
visiting localities in the 
areas under their mandate, 
and listening to extremely 
harrowing testimony from 
families, neighbours and 
others about individual 
cases.40 While the Commissions 
did not resolve all cases of 
enforced disappearances or 
instigate the prosecution 
of those responsible, they 
nevertheless meticulously 
documented and systematically 
collected extensive material 
about enforced disappearance 
cases, and the institutions, 
structures and individuals 
allegedly involved. In its 
seminal 2015 report to the 
UN Human Rights Council, 
the Office of the High 
Commissioner on Human Rights 
Investigation on Sri Lanka 
(OISL) recommended that 
the wealth of information 
and evidence gathered by 
these Commissions and the 
subsequent police and 
judicial investigations 
should be reviewed as part 
of any new comprehensive 
investigation into all 
patterns and cases of 
enforced disappearances, 
and should be used as part 
of a vetting process for 
all members of the security 

forces.41 Nevertheless, 
critics have noted that the 
establishment of successive 
state Commissions enabled 
the ruling elite to maintain 
a façade of accountability 
while tightly controlling 
the Commissions’ work – in 
effect politicising their 
findings to delegitimise 
opponents and ignoring 
their recommendations for 
legislative and political 
reform.42



16 17

Somadeva, who investigated 
the site, concluded that the 
remains dated from 1986-
1990.44 He also concluded that 
the individuals buried there 
did not die of natural causes 
– and that there was evidence 
of torture and extrajudicial 
execution. 

In his report, Raj Somadeva 
identifies a number of 
artifacts (including a 
button, rings and a bottle) 
recovered from the mass 
grave, the style and origin 
of which he traced to the 
late 1980s period.45 He also 
recovered a noose made out 
of metal wire attached to 
a leg bone with a locking 
device, which suggested that 
the ‘noose had been made for 
a purpose of repeated use’.46 
Furthermore, several nails 
were recovered, some of which 
had pieces of bone attached, 
including finger bones.47 
He said:

As suggested 

by the dates of 

the manufacture 

of artifacts, 

The extent and gravity of 
the gross human rights 
violations in Matale district 
only really came to light in 
2012, when a mass grave was 
discovered near the hospital 
in Matale town. Previously 
very little attention had 
been paid to the impact of 
the JVP insurrection and 
counter-insurgency operations 
by the security forces in 
Matale district. In addition, 
there were very few habeas 
corpus and fundamental rights 
petitions filed from Matale 
district by domestic and 
international human rights 
organisations to the courts.

Matale District, however, 
became the focus of media 
attention in Sri Lanka in 
November 2012, when skeletal 
remains were discovered 
during the construction of a 
bio-gas facility at Matale 
General Hospital,43 which is 
situated in the same area 
as Vijaya College, where the 
army camp was located during 
the period 1989-1990. By 
13 February 2013, when the 
mass grave was closed under 
a court order, 154 human 
skeletons had been uncovered. 
Forensic archaeologist, Raj 

this inhumation 

(internment/burial) 

has been carried 

out at a time not 

earlier than the 

year 1986 and not 

later than the year 

1990.[…] The modus 

oper[a]ndi of the 

entire burial shown 

by the arrangement 

of individual 

skeletons suggests 

that it is not 

compatible with the 

accepted cultural 

norms of treating 

the dead by any 

ethnic or religious 

group living in the 

country.48 

3.MATALE DISTRICT 
– THE MASS GRAVE
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Families of the suspected 
victims of enforced 
disappearance during that 
period petitioned the 
Magistrate Court of Matale, 
asking for DNA analysis of 
the remains to determine 
whether they matched the 
DNA of their missing 
relatives. In response to 
their petition, President 
Mahinda Rajapaksa appointed 
a three-person Commission 
of inquiry: three retired 
judges, one of them a 
former Secretary General 
of Parliament. Material 
alleged to be remains from 
the gravesite was sent to 
the USA for carbon dating, 
and based on the finding the 
Commission concluded that the 
remains dated from before 
1950, though they agreed 
that the remains showed 
evidence of torture and 
murder. Suspicious that the 
evidence was tampered with, 
the forensic medical officer 
in charge, Dr Ajith Jayasena, 
has alleged that the chain of 
custody was broken, and that 
skeletal remains reportedly 
sent to a laboratory in the 
US to determine the age 
of the gravesite were not 
actually from the Matale mass 
grave.49 

There were reports that 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa, who was 
Secretary of Defence at the 
time the mass grave was 
discovered, had allegedly 
ordered that all police 
registers and records older 
than 5 years at the police 
stations in the Central 
Province (including Matale 

district) be destroyed. He 
reportedly also instructed 
the Inspector General of 
Police (IGP) that all reports 
linked to the court action 
regarding the Matale mass 
graves be forwarded to him.50

In February 2014, the 
Government of Sri Lanka’s 
response to the report of 
Navanethem Pillay, the UN 
High Commissioner for Human 
Rights, to the UN Human 
Rights Council stated that 
the bodies likely belonged to 
victims of a 1940s cholera 
outbreak.51

Some of the remains were 
sent to a laboratory in 
China, as well as to Beta 
Analytic, a company based in 
Miami, USA, which specialises 
in radiocarbon dating. 
Eventually, the Presidential 
Commission arrived at its 
intended dead-end. As the 
propaganda war intensified for 
the January 2015 elections, 
President Mahinda Rajapaksa’s 
government shelved the 
Commission’s report, and 
phased out all mentions of 
it from the public domain. 
When the government changed 
in 2015, bringing to power 
a coalition of the United 
National Party (UNP) and Sri 
Lanka Freedom Party (SLFP), 
the Commission reopened its 
report, only to uphold the 
1950s hypothesis and reject 
the allegations that the mass 
grave was a crime scene.52 
It is worth noting that the 
UNP, though heralded by many 
because of its promises of 
reform, was the party in 
power in 1989 and possibly 
therefore showed no interest 

in uncovering a mass grave 
from that period. 

On 24 July 2015, the judicial 
inquiry was suspended 
‘pending recommendations by 
the Attorney General or a 
senior police officer’.53 It 
remains suspended at the time 
of writing this report.

There have been no further 
reports of progress in the 
forensic investigations, or 
the police investigation into 
this discovery. It is clear 
that if the 154 bodies were 
established to be from the 
JVP-era and if genuine efforts 
were made to identify them, 
evidence may emerge regarding 
those responsible for their 
arrest, torture and killing 
in custody. 

It also cannot be ruled out 
that there are other mass 
graves in the area. In an 
interview in April 2013, 
Nandimithra Ekanayake (SLFP 
parliamentarian from Matale) 
said: 

There were three 

officers who were 

in charge of the 

army in the area. I 

specially discussed 

with Mr. Gotabaya 

Rajapaksa and got 

people released. As 

far as I remember, 

no one was buried 

within the hospital 

premises. But I 

don’t know whether 

any such thing 

happened in secrecy. 

The fact that the 

army carried out 

mass killings in 

Matale District is 

true. In Dambulla 

Palatuwawa 52 [sic54] 

were killed in one 

village. In areas 

like Muwandeniya, 

Wariyapola Watta, 

Ankumbura many 

people were 

massacred. Most 

of the people who 

were killed in this 

manner by the army, 

were burnt later. 

The remains were 

buried in different 

places. There can be 

other places where 

they carried out 

mass burials.55
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4.THE CASE 
AGAINST NANDASENA 
GOTABAYA RAJAPAKSA 

FOR VIOLATIONS 
PERPETRATED UNDER 

HIS COMMAND 
IN MATALE 

allegedly sanctioned a 
‘Search-Interrogate-Destroy’ 
strategy – which effectively 
amounted to a policy to 
detain and summarily execute 
prisoners.58 From June 1989 
onwards, sweeping emergency 
regulations also authorised 
the police to dispose of 
bodies without the need for a 
postmortem or inquest.59 

Security insider Rohan 
Gunaratne60 writes that 
although on paper commanding 
officers were instructed 
to record all arrests and 
inform headquarters, in 
practice suspects were often 
picked up late at night or 
early in the morning. He 
adds, ‘No suspect taken into 
custody was to be released 
without the permission of 
the coordinating officer’61, 
which indicates that, as 
the Commander in place, 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa would 
have been made aware of the 
thousands of arrests in the 
area under his command, 
and furthermore would have 
known that the disappeared 
detainees were not released. 
While several disappearance 
cases were brought directly 
to his attention in 1989, 
while he was in command, no 
evidence exists to suggest 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa launched 
an investigation into any 
of these matters reported 
to him. 
Rohan Gunaratne was quite 
frank about the army’s 
policy of executing suspects 
who didn’t die during 
interrogation. He says 
very few were recorded as 
arrested, and that those 
who were rarely survived 

detention; most of the deaths 
were recorded as ‘killed 
in action’. However, the 
majority of detainees were 
never recorded officially 
as in custody and their 
bodies were just dumped 
in a river or burned.62 
According to Gunaratne, the 
army nevertheless did take 
some gruesome precautions to 
ensure the corpses were not 
identified: 

To prevent 

identification some 

were left hacked, 

often with their 

faces mutilated or 

decapitated. After 

a while troops 

became accustomed to 

carrying out this 

kind of operation. 

They often used 

prisoners awaiting 

execution to do the 

disfiguring or the 

beheading at the 

point of a gun.63

THE SCALE OF ATROCITIES

As with the civil war against 
Tamil militants and the first 
JVP uprising, there has been 
no precise reckoning of the 

THE ENABLING ENVIONMENT

With the exception of 
Shavendra Silva, most of 
the soldiers deployed to 
Matale and their particular 
detachment were not from the 
area where they served, which 
was a deliberate strategy on 
the part of the government 
and the security forces to 
prevent their loyalties being 
tested if they came from the 
local population. The army 
was also keen to ensure that 
the JVP had no opportunity to 
threaten or kill the families 
of their men, or pressure 
them to switch sides and join 
the JVP.56

The modus operandi of the 
security force units deployed 
included the use of unmarked 
vehicles57 and security forces 
operating in plain clothes, 
ensuring that they could not 
be identified, which also 
strengthened the potential 
for the commission of human 
rights violations. Those 
unmarked vans and plain 
clothes officers still operate 
to this day in the north east 
of the island, employing a 
very similar modus operandi. 
In addition, senior officers 
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death toll. According to 
government figures, the JVP 
murdered 6,517 people between 
late 1987 and March 1990.64 
By April 1990, the total 
number of people killed by 
the JVP and the security 
forces numbered over 40,000. 
An average of ten people is 
thought to have died every 
day in the second half of 
1987. The number killed then 
dramatically increased to an 
average of 20 people a day 
in the next ten months. From 
December 1988 to December 
1989 an average of 100 people 
were reported to have died 
every day, suggesting that 
there may have been a central 
system to count the deaths.65 
It was no secret that crimes 
were being committed and 
that the security forces 
were involved – corpses 
were strewn in fields and 
roadsides, and floated ashore 
or in rivers – while young 
men disappeared after their 
families had seen them in 
detention camps.

By June 1990, the military 
was redeployed to the north 
and east.66 At this point 
scores of corpses were found 
near former army camps, 
believed to be the bodies of 
prisoners killed at the camps 
before the redeployment. 
Bodies of suspected victims 
of extrajudicial execution 
continued to be found in the 
following months, though on a 
lesser scale.67

THE SCALE OF DISAPPEARANCES

The sheer scale of the 
disappearance complaints in 
the period when Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa was in charge of 
Matale District suggests 
that a case exists for him 
to answer, both in terms of 
his own direct conduct, and 
that of the troops under his 
command. This is based on the 
number of complaints made by 
families to the Commissions 
some years later, rather than 
the total number of persons 
who actually disappeared. Not 
everyone would have engaged 
with the Commissions – and 
where families lost family 
members and recovered the 
bodies, they did not always 
make complaints to the 
Commissions. In some cases, 
entire families were wiped 
out and nobody remained to 
make complaints.

The ITJP has analysed the 
data of complaints about 
enforced disappearances from 
Matale district brought 
before both the Central Zone 
Commission (CZC) and the All 
Island Commission (AIC) and 
has found that from a total 
of around 850 cases from 1 
January 1988 to December 
1994, around 700 occurred 
during the period from May 
1989 to January 1990, when 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa was in 
command of the district. 

The Central Zone published 
report contains 1,042 files of 
complaints regarding people 
who were disappeared from 
1989-91 in Matale. Some of 
these complaints pertain to 
the period after January 1990 

and others from before mid 
1989. 

The graph below shows a 
more detailed pattern of 
complaints of disappearances 
from Matale district 
investigated by the CZC and 
AIC.68 The months of October 
(168), November (127) and 
December 1989 (157) saw the 
highest numbers. This is 
in line with the pattern 
observed in other districts. 
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DISAPPEARANCE PER-MONTH

DATE OF DISAPPEARANCE (YEAR-MONTH)
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playing there, my 
son [name] became 
frightened and 
tried to run and 
they shot him. He 
was wounded by the 
gunshot and fell to 
the ground. Then, 
my other son [name] 
and another child 
who was playing with 
him called [name] 
were put in the van 
and taken away. A 
month before this 
incident, officers 
from the Pelwehera 
army camp brutally 
beat me, asking 
for my two sons to 
be handed over. At 
that time, of my 
two sons, [one] was 
not at home. They 
caught [the other] 
and shoved a bomb in 
his mouth and made 
him climb up a tree 
and told me to go 
find my other son and 
that they would keep 
him like that until 
I did. I took great 
efforts to find my 
other son []. I was 
unable to find him. 
Then, a teacher from 

a neighbouring house 
pleaded with them 
so they got [the 
other son] down and 
threatened me saying 
to come hand over my 
two sons in three 
days. Because my 
children were to be 
taken to the camp, 
I purposedly did 
not go there. Along 
with a relative 
who works for the 
navy, I went to the 
Pelwehera camp. 
Those who were there 
said that my son 
and others had been 
transferred to the 
Matale Headquarters. 
Even though we went 
to the Headquarters 
at the Matale 
Vijaya College camp, 
we were unable 
to obtain any 
information about 
my son. On the day 
my son was taken, 
my son who was shot 
[earlier] was put 
in a van and taken 
away and brought 
back to the village 
to identify another 
boy and they took 

PROFILE OF 
VICTIMS IN 
MATALE

The majority of those 
reported as disappeared to 
the Commissions covering 
Matale were young Sinhalese 
men suspected of being 
members or sympathisers of 
the JVP. However, there were 
also children and youth among 
the victims. One father lost 
his two sons aged 13 and 15 
years:

[My sons] were 
playing in a garden 
of a house about 
50 yards away from 
our home. In that 
moment, a group of 
uniformed men and 
with guns arrived in 
a white Delica van 
along with another 
group dressed in 
civil clothes who 
might be inferred as 
military personnel. 
They stopped their 
vehicles there and 
got down. At that 
time, from the group 
of children who were 

him too. [This 
other son] has also 
disappeared.69

One complainant informed 
the All Island Commission 
that on 7 December 1989 army 
personnel killed her husband 
and their 12 and 8 year old 
daughters, and set their 
home on fire when they came 
looking for their older son, 
who was not at home. Only the 
complainant survived, because 
she was not at home that 
day.70

WITNESSES NAMED GOTABAYA 
RAJAPAKSA 

At the time the families gave 
evidence to the Commissions 
they had no idea that 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa would 
one day become President 
of the country. However, 
in a considerable number 
of cases, complainants 
to the Commissions named 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa and the 
Vijaya College army camp, 
where he was based, as 
playing a critical role in 
the disappearance of their 
relatives. 

•	 One mother witnessed her 
son in custody in Vijaya 
College army camp on 
several occasions from 
early September 1989 to 8 
January 1990, before he 
disappeared, stating that 
she knew that Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa was the officer 
in charge of the camp. The 
inescapable conclusion of 
the Commission was that 
the officer in charge, 

Gotabaya Rajapaksa, bore 
responsibility for the 
disappearance, but the 
Commissioners could not 
find relevant documents 
recording his detention 
since the camp had been 
closed down. 

•	 Another mother searched 
every army camp and 
police station in the 
area looking for her son 
after he disappeared and 
she also went to meet 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa to seek 
his help, in vain. She was 
later told by a senior 
police official that her 
search was futile as her 
son had been killed on the 
day he was taken away.

•	 One man testified to the 
Commissioners that two of 
his brothers were arrested 
and a third handed over in 
November 1989 through the 
local member of parliament 
to Gotabaya Rajapaksa in 
his capacity as District 
Military Coordinator at 
the Matale Rest House. 
The brother disappeared 
thereafter. 

•	 In another case, a witness 
testified that he saw 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa visit 
the Porcelain army camp in 
mid-December 1989, when 
he tried to visit his 
brother in law, who had 
been arrested the previous 
day and was being detained 
there. The brother in law 
disappeared seven days 
later. 

•	 In another case, a civil 
servant, whose son had 
been arrested in November 

1989, was able to speak to 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa at the 
Vijaya College army camp to 
ask for his help. He said 
that Gotabaya Rajapaksa 
said it was the police 
who had taken his son and 
so he went to the Matale 
police superintendent, 
Mahinda Balasuriya – a 
man who decades later, 
on 3 November 2009, was 
appointed Sri Lanka’s 
police chief by President 
Mahinda Rajapaksa.
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THE TRAGIC 
CASE OF 
K G G 
KAMALAWATHI 

On 13 December 1989 about 
two thousand villagers were 
arrested in the area where 
Kamalawathi lived. Among them 
were her two sons (17 year 
old Rohana Nishantha and 18 
year old Susantha Janaka), 
taken away with six others 
(including a 15 year old 
boy). She knew that her sons 
were detained in the Vijaya 
College army camp. Initially 
their names were mentioned 
in the list of detainees, but 
were later removed. She and 
the other parents visited 
almost every army camp and 
police station looking for 
their children whom they 
assumed had been moved. 
Then they informed among 
others the Matale District 
Coordinating Officer, Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa, about the arrests. 

Sources say on 24 December 
1989, when Matale District 
parliamentarian Mr Nandimitra 
Ekanayaka made an inquiry, 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa in 
his capacity as District 
Coordinator admitted that 
the two boys were being held 
in army custody and would be 
released shortly. However 
they disappeared thereafter.71

In a letter dated February 
1995 to a legal aid 
organisation, their mother 
elaborated:

We again 
complained to the 
Superintendent of 
Police through the 
Government Agent. 
Four days later, 
my sons’ names 
appeared in the 
Camp’s detainee 
register under 
number 16 and 17. 
The person who read 
the list of names 
was an officer named 
Sergeant Jayatunga. 
He didn’t have an 
identification number 
on him. I screamed 
at him and asked,  
‘I saved my children 
from the attacks 
of the Tamil Tigers 
(in the east) and 
brought them here 
to protect them 
and now what have 
you done to them?’ 
He was visibly 
shaken. He asked me 
to come the next 
morning to give some 
information about my 

children. I met him 
the next morning. 
He confirmed that 
the children are 
alive and detained 
but asked me not to 
ask where exactly 
they were being 
held, as disclosing 
that information 
would put his job        
at risk.72

In the same letter, she 
described how the local 
Member of Parliament talked 
to Gotabaya Rajapaksa about 
her sons. She said that he 
confirmed their detention 
and promised their imminent 
release:

Two students who 
were released from 
the Vijaya College 
camp after seven 
days, confirmed my 
sons [we]re being 
held in the camp. 
When Matale District 
parliamentarian, 
Mr. Nandimitra 
Ekanayaka, inquired 
about the two 
children over the 
phone, Mr. Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa admitted 
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“I SCREAMED AT HIM AND ASKED, 
‘I SAVED MY CHILDREN FROM THE 
ATTACKS OF THE TAMIL TIGERS (IN 
THE EAST) AND BROUGHT THEM HERE 
TO PROTECT THEM AND NOW WHAT 

HAVE YOU DONE TO THEM?”

my sons were in 
their custody and 
said that they will 
be released in three 
to four days. But 
they did not come 
back. A person who 
was released from 
the Redd Barna Camp 
on 19 January 1990, 
told me that he had 
seen my eldest son 
in the camp. Another 
person released from 
Pelawatta Camp in 
June 1993 said that 
my second son was 
seen in that camp. 
Again, in December 
1993, a person who 
remained missing for 
four and half years 
and was released 
from a secret camp 
in Boosa, confirmed 
that he saw my 
eldest son in that 
camp. We did not 
receive any official 
information on them 
other than that. We 
went to almost every 
camp looking for 
them. The response 
we received was 

‘there is no one 
with that name 
here’.73

A former detainee, held 
at the Vijaya College army 
camp for eight days, also 
confirmed in a letter that 
Kamalawathi’s two sons were 
detained there.74

	
When contacted by the 
media several years later, 
Nandimithra Ekanayake, by 
now a minister, said he 
could not remember this 
particular incident involving 
Mrs Kamalawathi, but added 
that he took up ‘countless’ 
cases of disappearances of 
local youth at that time: 
‘I was the only MP elected 
from the Opposition; the 
other four parliamentarians 
were from the UNP,’ he said. 
He also said that Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa, the Military 
Coordinating Officer of 
Matale at that time, had 
been very ‘cooperative’ 
(towards him) and ‘kind’ to 
the detained youth. Even 
those youth who committed 
‘the worst offences’ had 
been sent to rehabilitation 
camps, he said, adding, 
‘That particular instance, 
(Kamalawathi’s) could have 
been an exception.’75
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POLITICIANS INVOLVED

The Commission formally 
listed one UNP politician 
from Matale district as 
someone against whom further 
action should be taken, as 
there was enough evidence 
implicating him in the 
killing of several people. 
On 15 July 1989, a group 
in three pick-up trucks 
in military uniform and 
civilian clothing surrounded 
a house in Polwatta, Rattota 
and abducted the owner of 
the house and eight others 
who were helping with the 
preparations for a Buddhist 
alms giving ceremony.76 At 
the same time, three had been 
abducted from another house 
in that village. Relatives of 
the people who were abducted 
that day (all of whom were 
SLFP supporters) told the 
Central Zone Commission (CZC) 
that those who came had been 
seen that morning at the 
house of a UNP politician, 
Mr Punchi Banda Kavirathna77, 
who was then Culture Minister 
but is no longer alive. The 
bodies of those abducted 
were found three days later 
near the Marassana bridge in 
nearby Thalathuoya, Kandy 
district. They had been shot 
dead.78

COMMISSION NAMED GOTABAYA AS 
AN ALLEGED PERPETRATOR

The Army failed to cooperate 
with the Commissions of 
Inquiry, and therefore the 
information regarding command 
and control structures in 
the Commissions’ reports is 

limited. However, witnesses 
and investigating officers 
repeatedly named Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa as being the 
commanding officer based 
at the Matale Kachcheri 
(District Secretariat), which 
was within walking distance 
from the Vijaya College army 
camp, under whose watch the 
disappearances and other 
human rights violations were 
taking place. 

Among the camps where 
suspects were detained in 
the Matale district were 
the Matale Rest House camp, 
Redd Barna camp, Ambawatta 
Maha Vidyalaya, Bandarapola 
camp, near Christ Church 
College, Mattava army camp 
opposite Warakawala porcelain 
factory, Naula, Araangala 
paddy storage, Koombiyangoda 
temple, Ovilikanda army 
camp, Naula, Arangala army 
camp, Rattota, Katarantenna 
Bungalow army camp, Ukuwela 
army camp, Udupihilla army 
camp, Pelawatta army camp, 
Palwehera army camp, and 
Hettipola army camp and 
technical training college in 
Nagolla Road. 

The Commission compiled 
a list of 24 alleged 
perpetrators in Matale 
District (‘Presidential 
Commission of Inquiry into 
Involuntary Removals or 
Disappearances of Persons 
(Central Zone) List of 
Persons Whose Names 
Transpired as Responsible 
for Disappearances – Central 
Province – Matale district’). 
Among those named by the 
Central Zone Commission (CZC) 
is ‘Rajapaksa G, OIC Matale 

Army Camp’ (No 16 on this 
list).79 The case involves 
someone who was arrested in 
September 1989 and tortured 
while being held at Vijaya 
College army camp for 40 
days. Others listed are other 
army and police officers under 
his command, as well as a 
politician. 

EXTRAJUDICIAL EXECUTIONS BY 
1ST BATTALION OF THE GAJABA 
REGIMENT UNDER GOTABAYA’S 
COMMAND

Reports of extrajudicial 
executions attributed to the 
security and aligned death 
squads increased significantly 
after Emergency Regulations 
were reintroduced in June 
1989. Posters, some signed in 
the name of the Sri Lankan 
Army, then appeared in public 
places warning that ten or 
more relatives of JVP members 
would be killed for each 
killing of a security force 
member’s relative.80

In addition to complaints to 
the Commissions regarding 
enforced disappearances, 
there were many about 1st 
Gajaba Regiment soldiers 
carrying out deliberate 
killings of people taken 
into custody, some of them 
in the most brutal fashion. 
In several of these cases, 
the Commissions have named 
individual army officers as 
responsible. All of them were 
under the command of Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa during the period 
from 1 May 1989 to January 
1990.

7 October 1989 is the day 
with the highest number 

of complaints to the 
Commissions: more than 60. On 
that day, according to the 
Commissions’ reports, officers 
of the Gajaba Regiment 
attached to Palwehera army 
camp arrested and killed 
22 villagers after a clash 
between JVP members and the 
Army, in which one soldier 
died. Following an attack 
on an army jeep on night 
patrol, soldiers attached to 
Palwehera army camp arrived 
in vehicles and battered down 
the doors of the houses, 
before taking 22 men who were 
sleeping in their homes, 
shooting 17 of them dead at 
Kimbissa junction and killing 
the remaining five near the 
[Palatuwa] temple. The police 
handed the corpses over to 
be cremated under Emergency 
Regulations. 

Among the dead were three 
teenage boys – aged 13, 15 
and 17 years. Witnesses said 
that the bodies left at the 
Kimbissa junction were set 
alight and that police and 
army personnel later loaded 
the burnt corpses onto a 
truck and took them to the 
Dambulla cemetery where the 
bodies were further burnt 
in order to ensure that they 
would not be identifiable 
at all, together with the 
five bodies dumped near the 
Palutawa temple.

In other incidents, the 
security forces displayed 
the remains of the victims 
in the most gruesome way. 
A group of army personnel 
armed with new T56 weapons 
took seven young men from the 
village of Wellangahawatte 

in Matale District on 29 
August 1989 and beat them to 
death, following which they 
decapitated their bodies in 
front of the post office, 
leaving them there overnight. 
The following day, a group 
buried the headless bodies on 
the Wellangahawatta temple 
land. Witnesses said the 
heads were put in polythene 
bags and buried elsewhere in 
Rattota. Witnesses identified 
by name a Gajaba Regiment 
intelligence officer at the 
Matale Rest House as among 
those responsible.

TORTURE IN MATALE

Some of the prisoners who 
survived detention in army 
or police custody testified 
to the Commissions about the 
torture inflicted on them at 
Vijaya College army camp and 
other places of detention 
in the district. Many spoke 
about being blindfolded, 
beaten, including while being 
hung upside down, and being 
forced to inhale chilli 
fumes. Notably, several 
said they were members or 
supporters of the main 
opposition political party, 
the SLFP.

One man arrested with 
others in mid-September 
1989 described being taken 
to Vijaya College camp where 
he was subjected to torture 
while suspended by a rope. 
He was burnt with cigarette 
butts, leaving scars on his 
body, and was beaten on 
the head with a barrel of 
a gun and assaulted on the 
soles of his feet. He was 
then blindfolded and taken 

to a nearby forest. There, 
the soldiers asked every 
prisoner to pour a gasoline-
like substance over their 
own bodies. The prisoners 
were then given a box of 
matches and told to set fire 
to themselves. While there 
a vehicle arrived with a 
message and the survivor, 
soaked in gasoline, was put 
back into the vehicle and 
taken back to Vijaya College.

The Commissions also reported 
on sexual harassment and 
sexual violence by the 
security forces against male 
and female prisoners, as well 
as family members enquiring 
after detained relatives 
during this period. In one 
incident, in Matale, a woman 
said that when she went to 
enquire about her husband 
at the Ovilikanda army camp 
in October 1989, soldiers 
forcibly cut her hair. She 
was so fearful after that 
that she did not dare to go 
and make a complaint to the 
police. Another woman spoke 
of a named Gajaba Regiment 
intelligence officer visiting 
her home in an apparently 
drunken state after the 
disappearance of her husband. 
He made sexual advances, but 
because her three children 
and parents were present in 
the house she said she was 
able to resist him.

Many victims of torture 
did not survive. The few 
who did speak of being 
forced to decapitate dead 
bodies, and of seeing heads 
lying in the corners of the 
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interrogation room at Vijaya 
College army camp. In an 
anonymised account published 
in 2013, a survivor (taken to 
hospital by the International 
Committee of the Red Cross) 
provided the following 
details about what he 
experienced within the Vijaya 
College premises:

Inside the Gunasena 
Hall of the Vijaya 
College, I believe 
there must have 
been at least 700 
detainees. I too 
was put into the 
hall. Next evening, 
they brought three 
masked informers and 
I was put in front 
of them. But they 
did not identify 
me. There were two 
rooms, separated 
from each other. One 
was used to beat up 
the detainees and 
interrogate. The 
other was used for 
extreme torture. 
After three days, 
they took me for 
interrogation. 
First, they held 
some chilli powder 
close to my nose and 
asked what it is. I 

said, ‘chillies’. 
Then they held a 
sword close to 
me and ask me to 
touch the blade 
and tell what is 
on the blade. I 
said, ‘motor oil’. 
Afterwards, they 
gave me a gun and 
asked me what it 
is. I replied, ‘a 
gun’. They asked 
‘what kind of gun’ 
and I said that I 
don’t know. They 
said ‘ha, is that 
so’ and then started 
to beat me up. They 
continuously beat me 
asking me to strip 
down the gun.
 
Later, they stopped 
hitting me saying, 
‘let’s put him into 
the slaughterhouse.’ 
I was already 
half dead. I was 
terrified that they 
are going to kill 
me. But what could 
I do? Actually, I 
can’t remember the 
exact sequence of 
things that happened 
there. In the night 

I realised that 
they have brought 
two other people. 
Both were beaten 
and asked to reveal 
where they hid 
their guns. When 
the beating became 
unbearable, those 
two boys said, ‘we 
don’t know about 
any weapons. But one 
night, we did put up 
some posters’. Then 
the beating stopped. 
There was no noise 
for almost one hour. 
Then we smelled 
cigarette smoke. 
Everybody knew, that 
smell is a sign of 
the next round of 
torture.

They untied the 
blindfold of one 
person and asked him 
to untie the rest of 
us. Then he untied 
my blindfold too. It 
was a big room. As 
far as I remember, 
there were about 
eight people inside. 

‘We untied you, so 
that you all can see 

what we are going 
to do to him,’ said 
one among them. 
The young boy, who 
admitted putting up 
posters, was hung 
by his feet from 
a roof beam. Then 
they burnt his face 
with a cigarette 
lighter. At times 
like that, they 
used to play loud 
music to prevent the 
outsiders hearing 
screams. When they 
hung him by his 
feet and swung him 
fast, he hit his 
head on the wall. 
Then he shivered 
uncontrollably and 
died after bleeding 
profusely from his 
mouth and nose. 
Afterwards, they 
blindfolded us again 
saying that ‘This 
is the treatment 
you all will get’. 
There was nothing we 
could do. I gave up 
my desire to live. 
One of them came at 
the crack of dawn 
and said, ‘you all 
will also be put on 

the swing tonight’. 
Then he told someone 
to ‘Cut off his 
head’. I thought 
they were going to 
kill another person. 
But later I realised 
what he meant was 
to decapitate the 
person who was 
killed previous 
night. That 
afternoon, they 
brought another 
masked informer. He 
too didn’t identify 
me. That evening I 
was taken to the 
hall after removing 
my blindfold. Before 
I was taken out, I 
saw the head of the 
youth, killed the 
day before, lying in 
a corner. I was kept 
in that hall for 
about a week.’81 

He later witnessed the 
killing of a former work 
colleague. He described 
what happened when he was 
once again taken to the 
‘slaughterhouse’ as follows:

When I was taken 
inside, I saw four 
or five heads were 
piled up in a corner 

of the torture 
chamber. They have 
poured motor oil 
over the heads, so 
that they remain 
beyond recognition. 
Even by the time 
I was taken into 
that room, they 
were beating two 
people who were 
hung by their feet. 
There was blood and 
flesh all over the 
place. The walls 
were covered with 
bloodstains. On that 
day, I gained a 
deep understanding 
of what the fear 
of dying means. I 
was taken to the 
slaughterhouse by 
two of them. Another 
army member brought 
a rope. 

After about ten 
minutes they asked 
me, ‘Why do you look 
so terrified?’ and 
said, ‘If you like 
you can speak while 
standing. Whatever 
the way you like, 
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you will get what 
you deserve’. Then 
they brought the 
person I knew, who 
worked in the same 
bank. They dragged 
him along the floor 
as they had broken 
his arms and legs. 
He cried in front of 
me begging ‘Amare, 
please do something 
to save me. I am 
already dying’.  

They twisted my arm 
telling me, ‘Now, 
talk!’ I passed out. 
They asked me about 
some killings. By 
the time I gained 
consciousness, the 
other person was 
desperately gasping 
for air and begging 
for water. That 
night, he too died. 
They beheaded him 
in front of me and 
took his body after 
pouring motor oil 
on his head. One 
of them kicked the 
decapitated head 
into a corner.82

ENFORCED DISAPPEARANCES 

Disappearances in Sri Lanka 
were already a long-standing 
violation, mainly documented 
during the period of the 
1971 JVP insurrection and 
in northern Sri Lanka with 
the mass arrests of young 
Tamil men which resulted 
in the formation of the 
Jaffna Mothers’ Front in 
1984. In 1986, Amnesty 
International published a 
report documenting 272 cases 
of disappearances from the 
north and east.83 The United 
Nations Working Group on 
Disappearances (WGEID) raised 
concerns regarding individual 
cases through urgent appeals 
and letters.84 As early 
as February 1988, Amnesty 
International criticised 
the Sri Lankan Government’s 
inadequate response to the 
WGEID in an oral statement to 
the United Nations Commission 
on Human Rights. In a book 
published by the Asian 
Human Rights Commission on 
the sociological impact of 
disappearances in Sri Lanka, 
Jane Thomson-Sennayake makes 
the point that ‘more than 
any other violation, the act 
of disappearance is not only 
directed at the individual 
but also their community 
with the purpose of totally 
rupturing and undermining 
social and cultural norms 
and replacing any sense 
of normality in everyday 
life with fear, insecurity 
and mistrust’.85 She points 
out that the concept of 
disappearance as an ongoing 
and therefore unresolved 
crime is inextricably 
linked to the ongoing and 

unresolved trauma experienced 
by the relatives of those 
disappeared;  it is also 
directly associated with 
the ongoing impunity and 
untouchable status of those 
in power who resist efforts to 
establish truth and justice 
for victims.86 Disappearances 
enable a state to turn the 
world on its head, the 
normal into the abnormal 
and the extraordinary into 
the routine by providing a 
means to act against its own 
citizenry, which conceals the 
identity and motive of the 
perpetrators and victimises 
the victims.87

Following intense 
international pressure, 
on 9 October 1989 the 
International Committee 
of the Red Cross (ICRC) 
was formally invited by 
President Premadasa to 
send a delegation to Sri 
Lanka to start regular ICRC 
activities there. On 16 
October a team of four ICRC 
delegates arrived in Colombo, 
where they made detailed 
arrangements with the 
highest national authorities 
in preparation for ICRC 
activities, concurrently 
with prompt assessments of 
the situation and medical 
needs in certain parts of the 
island. President Premadasa 
received the head of the ICRC 
delegation on 18 October and 
confirmed his full support 
for ICRC activities. In 
October and November there 
were more interviews with 
the Ministers of Health, 
Foreign Affairs and Justice, 
as a result of which the ICRC 
quickly put a programme of 

action into effect, beginning 
its activities within a very 
short time.88 By the end of 
1989, the ICRC had already 
received no less than 3,857 
tracing requests.89 
According to Hansard (p941) 
of 4 December 1989, Mahinda 
Rajapaksa thanked the 
government for permitting the 
ICRC to enter the country, 
and asked that the UN Working 
Group on Enforced and 
Involuntary Disappearances 
and Amnesty International 
also be allowed to visit Sri 
Lanka.90 The Organisation of 
Parents and Family Members 
of the Disappeared (OPFMD) 
and the Mothers’ Front 
organisation had regularly 
provided information to the 
UN and other international 
human rights organisations.91 
In fact, in September 1990, 
the police confiscated details 
of 533 ‘case files relating to 
disappearances’ from Mahinda 
Rajapaksa when he was about 
to take them to a meeting 
of the UN WGEID in Geneva. 
The papers were returned to 
him in October after he filed 
a petition in the courts 
alleging infringement of his 
fundamental rights.92 

Later, in October 1991, the 
vovernment permitted the UN 
WGEID to visit Sri Lanka. 
In its report, the WGEID 
confirmed that it had raised 
thousands of cases with the 
Government of Sri Lanka, 
including 2,879 reported 
cases during 1989.93 It 
conducted a follow up visit 
in October 1992.94

From these repeated appeals 
and interventions at national 

and international level, 
it is evident that the Sri 
Lankan Government and Army 
were fully aware of the 
systematic and widespread 
nature of the disappearances 
in Sri Lanka and nevertheless 
failed to act against those 
responsible. 
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5.LEGAL ANALYSIS

Under international law, 
Sri Lanka is obliged to 
protect, respect, promote 
and fulfil the rights of all 
persons within its territory 
or under its control, 
without discrimination.95 
This includes the duty to 
investigate and prosecute 
gross violations of human 
rights law and serious 
violations of international 
humanitarian law ,as well as 
the right of victims to the 
truth about the violations 
and the right to an effective 
remedy, including the right 
to adequate, prompt and 
effective reparations.96 
States are further obliged 
to prevent the recurrence of 
violations.97 Furthermore, the 
prohibition of international 
crimes such as crimes 
against humanity, 98 war 
crimes,99 genocide and the 
crime torture (as a stand-
alone crime)100 have achieved 
the status of customary 
international law.

At the time of the second JVP 
uprising, Sri Lanka was party 
to a number of international 
human rights treaties, 
including the International 
Covenant on Civil and 

Political Rights (ICCPR),101 
the Convention on the 
Elimination of All Forms of 
Discrimination against Women 
(CEDAW),102 the International 
Convention on the Elimination 
of All Forms of Racial 
Discrimination,103 and the 
International Covenant on 
Economic, Social and Cultural 
Rights.104 At the time of 
the second JVP uprising, Sr 
Lanka was also bound by the 
provisions of the 1949 Geneva 
Conventions, which it had 
ratified in 1959 and by Common 
Article 3 to the Four Geneva 
Conventions, which have been 
recognized as customary 
international law applicable 
to non-international armed 
conflicts.105

INSURRECTION / INTERNAL ARMED 
CONFLICT

While successive 
governments of Sri Lanka 
have characterised the JVP 
massacres in 1971 and 1987-
1989, as an ‘insurrection’ 
and ‘insurgency’, this 
designation is subject 
to interrogation. An 
‘insurrection’ refers to 
‘a rising or rebellion of 
citizens against their 

government, usually 
manifested by acts of 
violence’.106 The term 
historically was restricted 
to rebellious acts that did 
not reach the proportions of 
an organised revolution, with 
many governments using the 
term ‘insurgency’ to suggest 
a lack of legitimacy, and to 
avoid having to comply with 
International Humanitarian 
Law (IHL).107 Furthermore, 
a state-centric view of 
traditional international 
law left the determination 
of the legal status of rebel 
groups or insurgents to each 
sovereign state, consistent 
with customary international 
law.108 Historically however, 
the determination of the 
legal status of insurgent 
or rebel groups, as well as 
the nature of the conflict, 
remained highly politicised 
and subjective, and usually 
dependent on the recognition 
by the state, and in the 
absence of a central 
international body making an 
objective judgment.109 Legal 
scholars have since noted 
that the traditional ways 
of ascertaining the legal 

MATALE  
REST HOUSE

NANAYAKKARA
GARDEN

FORT
MACDOWALL

DISTRICT 
SECRETARIAT 
(MILITARY 
COORDINATOR’S 
OFFICE HERE)

MATALE  
BASE 
HOSPITAL

MASS 
GRAVE

VIJAYA 
COLLEGE

GUNASENA 
HALL



40 41

status of rebel groups have 
fallen away since the end of 
the World War II and have 
been replaced by treaty-
based legal protection.110 In 
addition, the international 
community extended the rules 
of International Humanitarian 
Law (IHL) to apply to both 
insurgency and rebellion, 
depending on the level of 
organisation and intensity of 
violence. 111 

Not unsurprisingly, the 
Government of President 
Jayawardena did not at the 
time define the second JVP 
conflict as an internal armed 
conflict, despite the level 
of organisation, and the 
scale and intensity of the 
violence. An internal armed 
conflict has been defined 
by the Geneva Conventions 
112 as taking place in the 
territory of a state when 
there is protracted armed 
violence between governmental 
authorities and organised 
armed groups.113 This 
definition has been confirmed 
by the International Criminal 
Tribunal for the Former 
Yugoslavia in the Tadic 
decision, ie that an ‘armed 
conflict exists whenever there 
is a resort to armed force 
between States or protracted 
armed violence between 
governmental authorities and 
organised armed groups or 
between such groups within a 
State’.114 The Inter-American 
Commission on Human Rights 
even lowered the threshold in 
affirming the applicability 
of Common Article 3 to the 
events triggered by the 

attacks by an armed group 
against Argentine military 
personnel at the La Tablada 
base, despite the brief 
duration of the combat, in 
the light of the carefully 
planned, coordinated 
nature of the hostile acts 
undertaken by the attackers, 
as well as the nature and 
level of the violence.115

The existence of a non-
international armed conflict 
(internal armed conflict) 
obviously triggers the 
application of international 
humanitarian law (IHL), 
also known as the law of 
armed conflict, which sets 
limits on how the parties 
may conduct hostilities 
and protects all persons 
affected by the conflict.116 IHL 
requires that two criteria be 
met for there to be a non-
international armed conflict: 
the armed groups involved 
must show a minimum degree of 
organisation and the armed 
confrontations must reach a 
minimum level of intensity.117 
IHL imposes obligations on 
both sides of the conflict 
equally, though without 
conferring any legal status 
on the armed opposition 
groups involved.118

THE JVP CONFLICT 

The violence between the JVP 
and the government escalated 
from 1987 into one of the 
most brutal conflicts in the 
history of Sri Lanka, and 
peaked 1988-1989 with a 
‘takeover of power by the 
JVP said to be a distinct 
possibility’.119  As a party 
espousing a Marxist-Sinhala 

nationalist ideological 
mix, the JVP succeeded in 
presenting itself as a 
strong voice against foreign 
influences and against rights 
for the Tamil minority. The 
JVP was therefore perceived 
to be successful in becoming 
a catchment basin for many 
young Sinhalese who held 
both economic fears and 
underlying nationalist 
ideologies.120  The JVP 
was accused by President 
Jawardene of being ‘animals 
with a homicidal mania’, 
and he vowed to eliminate 
them in a few weeks.121  The 
organisation was also accused 
of carrying out several 
murders of members of the 
ruling party.122  However, 
the establishment of pro-
government ‘death squads’ 
waging a brutal counter-
offensive is said to have 
weakened the JVP, and 
by November 1989, Rohan 
Wijeweera, its founding 
leaders and almost all of 
the JVP leadership were 
captured and killed, with 
the war ending with an 
unconditional military 
victory by the government in 
1990.123 While the Uppsala 
Conflict Data Program put 
the death toll during the 
41 months of war at around 
2,000 people killed124 , this 
figure has been contested, 
with many speculating that 
the true number of those 
killed ranged from 10,000 to 
more than 60,000.125  The JVP 
was considered to be highly 
organised and the armed 
confrontations between the 
JVP and government forces 
reached a high level of 
intensity.

Ironically, Chandraprema, 
President Gotabaya’s official 
biographer, called the 
government’s offensive a 
‘war against the JVP’ and 
conceded that it was ‘an 
unconventional one’.126 He 
described their strategy as 
‘urban guerilla war’ and the 
organisation and arming of 
its base without a central 
geographical locus as unique 
in ‘revolutionary warfare’.127 

He differentiated the second 
period of violence from 
events in 1971, writing: 

The JVP’s second 
insurrection was 
very different to 
their earlier 
attempt at grabbing 
power in 1971. They 
were now prepared to 
wage a protracted 
war against the 
state. The method 
they adopted was 
individual terrorism 
with hit men killing 
their victims in 
surprise attacks 
just as the Tamil 
terrorists did 
in the north in 
the late 1970s 
and early 1980s. 
The JVP however 
carried out such 
attacks with much 

greater frequency 
than the Tamil 
terrorists….a fever 
psychosis gripped 
the country. By the 
end of 1987, the 
JVP could order the 
closure of shops, 
offices and business 
establishments by 
just slipping a note 
under the door or by 
giving an anonymous 
phone call. What the 
Tamil terrorists had 
taken years to do, 
the JVP had done in 
as many months.

Chandraprema explains that 
after the JVP issued an 
ultimatum in August 1989 
to the security forces to 
resign en masse or their 
families would be killed, 
‘the families of armed 
forces personnel had to be 
accommodated in hotels’ to 
prevent them being killed.128 

In his 1991 book on the 
JVP, Chandraprema says the 
JVP managed to turn the 
southern province into ‘their 
main base of activity’129 
; their plan was to topple 
the government through an 
armed uprising, until July 
1987 building up ‘pockets of 
resistance’ as ‘preparation 
for the commencement of 
hostilities’.130  He describes 
jungle training centres that 
gave villagers military 

instruction, often delivered 
by defecting army officers.131 

The actions of the security 
forces in Matale also reveal 
that no distinction was drawn 
between the JVP militants 
and civilians. Chandraprema’s 
book includes an address 
made by Army Chief of Staff, 
General Waidyaratne, on 
‘fish and water’132 ; he 
described the fish as the 
‘insurgents’133 in water 
he likened to ‘villagers 
supporting the insurgents’ . 
He noted that ‘the villagers 
support the insurgents in 
the hideouts in which he 
could move about and the 
peripheral supporters from 
who he gets support. All this 
enables the insurgent to move 
about freely like a fish in 
water’.134  His reference to 
‘drying up the water so that 
the fish are not permitted to 
move freely’135  was in all 
probability permission to the 
security forces to target 
civilians and their villages, 
from which members of the 
JVP came, condoning their 
killing, in effect blurring 
the distinction between 
civilians the the JVP. 

Chandraprema’s book noted 
that troop movements took 
place in armoured personnel 
carriers because of the 
ever-present threat of 
landmines and ‘the Sinhala 
south was fast becoming what 
Jaffna had been in 1984’.136  
He describes disruption 
of transport, closure of 
hospitals and general 
disruption of public life.137  
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While designating the 
conflict as an internal 
armed conflict is now 
moot, historically, the 
existence of a civil war or 
insurrection did not involve 
rights and obligations 
under international law, 
and insurgents lacked the 
protection customarily 
extended to belligerents.138 
A critical question is 
whether a deliberate policy 
decision was taken by the 
state at the time to describe 
the conflict between the 
state and the JVP as an 
‘insurrection’ in order to 
allow the state to exert the 
maximum force without having 
to comply with the tenets of 
international humanitarian 
law (IHL), particularly 
the prohibition regarding 
attacks on civilians and 
those considered hors de 
combat.139  It also enabled 
the state to avoid the 
internationalisation of the 
conflict which could have 
resulted in allegations of 
serious international crimes 
committed, and in calls for 
the international community 
to intervene. 

The internationalisation 
of the second JVP conflict 
would have led to the 
international criminalisation 
of the violations perpetrated 
and the prosecution of 
individuals implicated before 
an international forum if 
established, including an 
international tribunal, and 
Special Court which would 
have precluded the defense of 
the statute of limitations 

being used to prevent the 
national prosecution of 
international crimes.140  
In terms of vetting, if 
there was evidence of the 
commission of international 
crimes in 1987-9, those 
perpetrators responsible 
could also be denied refugee 
status, and be subject to 
visa restrictions. It would 
also be easier to argue 
that universal jurisdiction 
allowed the prosecution of 
the crime, with the result 
that alleged perpetrators 
could be denied the defence 
of ‘superior orders’ in 
national law, and could 
therefore be prosecuted for 
command responsibility.141 

CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY 

Crimes against Humanity 
constitute crimes committed 
against a civilian population 
during war and peacetimes.142 
A Crime against Humanity 
is committed as part of a 
widespread or systematic 
attack directed against 
any civilian population, 
with knowledge of the 
attack. Article 7 does not 
mention an armed conflict 
as a precondition for its 
application, unlike Article 
5 of the Statute of the 
International Criminal 
Tribunal for the former 
Yugoslavia.143 A widespread 
and systematic attack against 
a civilian population 
hence does not have to 
meet the threshold of an 
armed conflict and rather 
has to be defined along the 
lines of what constitutes a 
minimum level of intensity, 
widespread or systematic 

attack.144 However, Article 
7 is also applicable during 
armed conflict. A widespread 
and systematic attack on 
a civilian population may 
therefore consist in whole 
or in part of an armed 
attack.145 The International 
Committee of the Red Cross 
on the ICC Elements of 
Crimes also notes: ‘The 
ascertainment whether there 
is a non-international armed 
conflict does not depend on 
the subjective judgment of 
the parties to the conflict; 
it must be determined on the 
basis of objective criteria; 
the term ‘armed conflict’ 
presupposes the existence of 
hostilities between armed 
forces organised to a greater 
or lesser extent; there 
must be the opposition of 
armed forces and a certain 
intensity of the fighting.’146

Crimes against Humanity can 
take place in war and in 
peacetime, when legally an 
armed conflict has ceased 
or not yet started.147 In 
determining the applicable 
legal regime to crimes 
against humanity, there is 
greater consensus now that in 
peacetime the international 
law applicable to determine 
who may be the victim of 
a crime against humanity 
is international human 
rights law, not IHL.148 The 
International Covenant on 
Civil and Political Rights 
guarantees all persons the 
right to life149, and to be 
free from the acts listed 
in Article 7(1) of the 
Rome Statute.150 The crimes 
perpetrated during the 
JVP period are likely to 

constitute crimes against 
humanity if the elements of 
the crimes, including the 
widespread and systematic 
attack against a civilian 
population, are proven. 

The Gajaba Regiment is 
alleged to be responsible for 
extra-judicial killings of 
civilians during this period, 
many of whom were arbitrarily 
detained and taken into 
custody.151 Indeed, the Gajaba 
Regiment put up posters in 
public places, purportedly in 
the name of the Sri Lankan 
Army, which warned that in 
retaliation, ten or more 
relatives of JVP members 
would be killed for each 
killing of a security force 
member’s relative. An example 
of this includes the Palutuwa 
massacre which involved 22 
villagers, including under-
aged boys, killed by officers 
of the Gajaba Regiment from 
the Palwehera army camp on 
7 October 1989, following a 
clash between JVP members 
and the army, in which one 
soldier died152. The 22 
victims were taken from their 
homes where they were asleep 
and executed, with the police 
handing over the corpses to 
be cremated under Emergency 
Regulations, effectively 
destroying any evidence of 
the crimes.153 

Officers from the Gajaba 
Regiment were also alleged 
to have perpetrated torture 
in respect of those detained 
as well as sexual torture.154 
In addition, the number of 
civilians taken into custody 
and disappeared runs into 
thousands during this period. 

The International Committee 
of the Red Cross (ICRC) 
received a total of more 
than 3,857 tracing requests. 
Following the granting of 
government permission in 
October 1991, the UN Working 
Group on Enforced and 
Involuntary Disappearance 
(WGEID) visited Sri Lanka 
and confirmed that it had 
raised thousands of cases 
with the Government of Sri 
Lanka (GoSL), including 2,879 
reported during 1989.155 If 
proven, the extra-judicial 
killings, torture, sexual 
violence and disappearances 
extensively documented by the 
Commssions would amount to 
international crimes. 

CRIMES UNDER DOMESTIC LAW 

For more than 40 years, 
Sri Lanka has maintained 
an almost continuous 
state of emergency, with 
emergency rule effectively 
displacing the criminal 
justice system, eroding any 
state accountability and 
undermining human rights. In 
1988, the Government of Sri 
Lanka passed the Indemnity 
Act, with the long title, 
‘Indemnity (Amendment) Act 
(No 60 of 1988)’. According 
to Amnesty International: 
‘This act gives immunity from 
prosecution to all members 
of the security forces, 
members of the government and 
government servants involved 
in enforcing law and order 
between 1 August 1977 and 16 
December 1988 provided that 
their actions were carried 
out ‘in good faith’ and in 
the public interest’.156 
The act also indemnifies any 

other person who can use the 
defence that he or she acted 
‘in good faith’ under the 
authority of a government 
official during this period. 
Before 17 June 1993, ER 71 
specified that no civil or 
criminal action could be 
instituted in any court in 
respect of anything done 
‘in good faith’ under the 
provisions of the ER, unless 
consented to or initiated by 
the Attorney General’.157 The 
International Commission of 
Jurists (ICJ) noted in 2012 
that the emergency regime 
violated the prohibition 
on arbitrary detention 
and imposed unreasonable 
restrictions on the freedom 
of expression, the freedom 
of movement and the right 
to privacy.158 They also 
noted that the use of 
emergency laws facilitated 
unlawful killings, enforced 
disappearances, and the 
widespread use of torture 
and ill-treatment, and that 
the right to judicially 
review orders made under 
the emergency laws was 
restricted, if not altogether 
eliminated.159 The ICJ 
also pointed out that four 
decades of institutionalised 
emergency rule contributed 
to ‘a dangerous culture of 
impunity in Sri Lanka’.160

Emergency rule in the 
1970s commenced on 16 
March 1971, following the 
arrest of the Janatha 
Vimukthi Peramuna (JVP) 
leader, Rohana Wijeweera, 
on 13 March 1971. The 
government issued Emergency 
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Regulations (ERs) under 
the Presidential Security 
Ordinance 1947 to suppress 
the JVP insurrection. The 
JVP leader and others were 
detained under the Emergency 
Regulations.161 Under section 
9 of the PSO 1947, conduct 
of state officials carried 
out in good faith under 
the Emergency Regulations 
made them immune from 
prosecution.162 In a speech 
in the deep south in 1987, 
President Jayewardene made 
his intentions clear when he 
told an audience of security 
force personnel to ‘Kill and 
kill and kill the brutes’. 163  
Months later, the Indemnity 
(Amendment) Act 1988 came 
into effect, providing the 
guarantee required by the 
security forces to carry out 
the President’s wishes with 
impunity.164  The introduction 
of Emergency Regulation 55F 
in June 1988 (repealed in 
February 1990), allowed the 
security forces to dispose of 
dead bodies without having 
to carry out an inquest 
or report the matter to 
a magistrate, effectively 
concealing the cause of 
death and preventing any 
kind of accountability.165  
While enabling the shadow 
state to thrive, such 
measures weakened the formal 
legal structures and law 
enforcement institutions to 
the point where they were 
unable to provide remedy 
to survivors of political 
violence. Furthermore, the 
military ultimately became 
reliant upon extra-legal 
methods leaving the ruling 

elite with little alternative 
to violence to assert its 
will.166 

A further obstacle to 
accountability lies with Sri 
Lanka’s domestic law, where 
involuntary or enforced 
disappearance did not 
constitute a crime under 
the Penal Code, and where 
the prosecution has had to 
rely on ordinary criminal 
offences such as abduction, 
abetment and conspiracy in 
order to file indictments, 
making proving these offences 
in situations of conflict 
extremely difficult.167  In 
addition, the Penal Code 
has not incorporated the 
doctrine of command and 
superior responsibility.168  
Kishali Pinto Jayawardena has 
observed that prosecutions 
on the basis of ‘culpable 
omission’, as found in 
prevailing penal law 
provisions, have also not 
been effective. She notes 
that the Supreme Court 
generally affirmed the 
doctrine of ‘vicarious 
responsibility’ in the 
context of its fundamental 
rights jurisdiction, even 
with regard to the working 
of Emergency Regulations, 
but has not extended 
this doctrine to command 
responsibility.169  Pinto 
Jayawardena also noted the 
need to reform the criminal 
law so as to ensure that 
prosecutions addressed the 
command responsibility of 
senior officers in situations 
of war, rather than just 
prosecuting junior officers.170 

There is no doubt that the 
immunity granted to state 
officials contributed to a 
culture of impunity and 
set the stage for how the 
security forces committed war 
crimes and crimes against 
humanity during the final 
phase of the war in 2009 
against the LTTE and Tamil 
civilians. 

SUPERIOR AND COMMAND 
RESPONSIBILITY UNDER 
CUSTOMARY LAW 

In terms of international 
law, ‘superior and command 
responsibility’ as a mode 
of liability has reached 
the status of a customary 
international law,171 and 
is further reflected in 
the ICC Rome Statute.172 
Customary international law 
recognises three elements 
of a superior and command 
responsibility, namely 
the subordinate-superior 
relationship (including 
superior’s effective control 
over their subordinates), 
a mental element and a 
failure to prevent or 
punish.173  Elements of 
‘ordering’ as a type of a 
mode of liability have also 
been recognised as norms 
of customary international 
law.174 Superior and command 
responsibility and ‘ordering’ 
under customary international 
law are applicable to 
crimes against humanity, 
war crimes and genocide.175 
In this analysis, we have 
treated ‘superior and command 
responsibility’ as a mode of 
liability, as it illustrates 
the Commander’s role in the 
commission and omission of 

international crimes by their 
subordinateses and clearly 
imputes the crimes of the 
subordinates to the superior, 
consistent with a form of 
complicity.
 
GOTABAYA RAYAPAKSA: COMMAND 
AND SUPERIOR RESPONSIBILITY 

Between May 1989 and January 
1990, the current President 
of Sri Lanka, Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa, was District 
Military Coordinating Officer 
of Matale District,176 the 
stronghold of the JVP.177  In 
his role as the commanding 
officer, he was based at the 
Matale Kachcheri (District 
Secretariat), which was 
within walking distance of 
the Vijaya College army camp. 
It was under his watch that 
the disappearances and other 
human rights violations were 
taking place.

Numerous Sri Lankan 
Government Commissions 
reported that during the 
period Gotabaya Rajapaksa was 
in charge of Matale, more 
than 700 people – mainly 
Sinhalese – were disappeared. 

As District Coordinator, in 
charge of administration 
and security, including the 
police and army, Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa would have known 
about the scale of violence 
in the small district, home 
to about 350,000 people 
at the time.178 The crimes 
included gruesome killings 
with headless corpses strewn 
across fields and decapitated 
heads displayed on spikes 
on bridges. The available 
evidence indicates that 

numerous Sinhalese parents 
went to Gotabaya Rajapaksa 
in 1989 to ask about the 
whereabouts and fate of their 
disappeared children, and 
witnessed his presence at 
detention sites, with many 
survivors confirming him as 
being physically present in 
Matale at the various schools 
and guest houses which had 
been documented by the 
government’s Commissions as 
notorious torture sites at 
the time. 

The available evidence 
confirms that Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa was the Commander 
in charge of the security 
forces in Matale in 1989, 
and had effective command 
and control over the 
security forces, who were 
responsible for the killings 
and disappearances reported 
during that period. Gotabaya 
Rajapaksa was fully aware 
of the circumstances in 
which the crimes were being 
perpetrated by the security 
forces under his command 
and failed to take the 
necessary and reasonable 
measures within his power to 
prevent the commission of 
such crimes. He furthermore 
failed to take any action 
to investigate the crimes, 
despite complaints being 
made to him directly by 
family members of the 
victims, and failed further 
to submit the matter to 
the competent authorities 
for investigation and 
prosecution. The Commissions’ 
reports detail individual 
complaints made to him, in 
his role as the Commanding 
Officer in charge, of killings 

and disappearances taking 
place in Matale during this 
period by his subordinates. 
He was therefore fully 
aware of the crimes being 
perpetrated and failed to 
take any action to prevent 
these crimes from taking 
place or to hold any of his 
subordinates accountable. 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa is named 
by the Commissions as one of 
24 alleged perpetrators in 
Matale of the mass atrocity 
crimes perpetrated there. To 
date, he has never been held 
accountable for such crimes, 
either individually or for 
his command and superior 
responsibility role. 

The failure to hold 
perpetrators accountable 
for the gross human rights 
violations perpetrated in 
Matale in 1989, which if 
proven amount to serious 
violations of international 
humanitarian law, has been 
highlighted repeatedly 
over the years in reports, 
observations, and by the 
High Commissioner for Human 
Rights, the UN Working 
Group on Involuntary and 
Enforced Disappearances, UN 
Special Procedures mandate-
holders, and by national 
and international NGOs. 
Numerous Human Rights Council 
resolutions have also called 
on the government to fulfil 
its legal obligations and 
commitment to initiate 
credible and independent 
actions to ensure justice, 
equity, accountability and 
reconciliation for all Sri 
Lankans.
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ANNEXURES 

ANNEXURE 1: 
GOTABAYA 
RAJAPAKSA 
CAREER

20 Jun 1949 	
Born in Matara.

Education		
Ananda College179

26 Apr 1971  		
Joined the Sri Lankan Army as 
a cadet officer.180

25 May 1972 	
Commissioned as a second 
lieutenant and given his first 
command as an officer in the 
Ceylon Signals Corps after 
basic training at the Army 
Training Centre, Diyatalawa. 
181

1972	
Military College of Signals, 
Rawalpindi, Young Officers 
Course
.

Unknown	    	
Sinha Regiment and Rajarata 
Rifles

1974
Posted to Jaffna.182

 
1975	
School of Infantry and 
Tactics, Quetta Infantry 
Company Commanders’ course.
1980	 Counter-Insurgency and 
Jungle Warfare School, Assam, 
India.

1982-83	
Wellington Defence Services 
Staff College (DSSC), Nilgris, 
Tamil Nadu, Command and Staff 
Officer Training.

14 Oct 1983 	
Gajaba Regiment (after 
Rajarata Rifles was disbanded 
for alleged involvement 
in anti-Tamil riots and 
amalgamated with Vijayabahu 
Infantry Regiment).

1987 May & Jun	
Vadamarachchi Operation, 
Jaffna.183 

1987 Jul	
Recalled to Colombo after 
IPKF intervention and in 
Vidyalankara camp.184

1987 Dec	
Staff position, Army HQ.185

1988 	
Visits USA.186 

1989187  		
Fort Benning, USA Advanced 
Infantry Officers course.188 

1 May 1989	
Official biographer (C 
A Chandraprema189) says 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa was 
in 1st Gajaba Regiment 
and with the promotion to 
Commanding Officer he was 
posted to Matale as District 
Coordinating Officer until 
the end of the 2nd JVP 
insurrection (officially 13 
Nov 1989190) but believed to 
be there till Jan 1990. 

8 Jul 1989-26 Jan 
91 	Commander, 1st Gajaba 
Regiment.191

Jan 1990		
Gotabaya Rajapaksa applied 
for 3 months leave and went 
to USA.

1990 			 
Operation ‘Strike Hard’ and 
Operation ‘Thrividha Balaya’.

1990 			 
Led one battalion in the 
assault to retake Jaffna 
fort.192

  
Late 1990
Moves to Summit flats.193

1990–1991 	
Coordinating Officer Weli Oya 
area – the site of human 
rights violations and Sinhala 
colonisation. [8 July 1990 
Photograph shows him with 
Sumedha Perera off the seas of 
Muttur.)

Late 1990	
At the behest of Minister 
Wijeratne, Army Headquarters 
appointed Lt Col Rajapaksa as 
the Deputy Commandant of the 
Kotelawala Defence Academy 
(KDA), in late 1990.194

 
Jul 1991 		
Elephant Pass Battle.

1 Nov 1991  	
Retired from the army as 
a Lieutenant Colonel and 
emigrated to the US195  where 
he acquired US citizenship. 
In the USA, ‘…he worked in 
Loyola Law School in Los 
Angeles, U.S. as a Systems 
Integrator and Unix Solaris 
Administrator.' 196 

2005 	
Appointed Secretary of 
Defence of Sri Lanka by his 
brother the President and 
held the post for ten years, 
while a dual national. Also 
held the Urban Development 
portfolio.

1 Dec 2006                 
Failed assassination attempt 
in Colombo.

6 Sep 2009 	
University of Colombo confers 
Doctor of Letters on him for 
recognition as a ‘war hero’.

April 2019	
Two civil cases filed against 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa in 
California in the United 
States under the Torture 
Victims Protection Act. 197

16 Nov 2019	
Elected President of Sri 
Lanka.
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ANNEXURE 2:
LIST OF 
DISAPPEARED 
FROM MATALE 
DISTRICT 
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and Shavendra Silva (Gajaba 
Regiment). 
Sarath Fonseka later alleged 
in the election campaign in 
2019 that Gotabaya Rajapaksa 
left the army because he 
risked been court-martialled 
for acts in Jaffna: 
‘In the war, Gotabaya and 
I went together for the 
operation to liberate the 
Jaffna fort. Due to incidents 
that happened after the 
battle, the deputy defence 
secretary at the time Ranjan 
Wijeratne decided to take 
Gotabaya Rajapaksa to a 
military court. Then Gotabaya 
and Mahinda Rajapaksa who was 
an opposition MP met Ranjan 
Wijeratne and requested not to 
court martial him and allow 
to leave the army. General 
Ranjan Wijeratne granted that 
request. Ashamed to tell the 
real reason he says that he 
left on personal grounds.’
http://www.dinamina.lk/2019/
10/21/%E0%B6%B4%E0%B7%94%E0%
B7%80%E0%B6%AD%E0%B7%8A/827
09/%E0%B6%BA%E0%B7%94%E0%B6%
AF-%E0%B6%B6%E0%B7%92%E0%B6
%B8%E0%B6%A7-%E0%B7%80%E0%B-
6%A9%E0%B7%8F-%E0%B7%80%E
0%B7%90%E0%B6%A9%E0%B7%92-
%E0%B6%9A%E0%B7%8F%E0%B6%B
D%E0%B6%BA%E0%B6%9A%E0%B7%
8A-%E0%B6%9C%E0%B7%9D%E0%B6%A
8%E0%B7%8F%E0%B6%B7%E0%B6%BA-
%E0%B6%9C%E0%B6%AD-
%E0%B6%9A%E0%B7%85%E0%B7%9A-
%E0%B6%9A%E0%B7%9C%E0%B7%85%E
0%B6%B9%E0%B6%BA%E0%B7%92 
21 October 2019 Dinamina.

193 Sunday, 30 June 2013, 

Ayoma wins the day, The 
Island, *War on terror 
revisited : Part 151.

194 Sunday, 30 June 2013, 
Ayoma wins the day, The 
Island, *War on terror 
revisited : Part 151.

195 Sunday, 30 June 2013, 
Ayoma wins the day, The 
Island, *War on terror 
revisited : Part 151.
https://twitter.com/siwura/
status/1392659635157360646/
photo/1

196 https://www.theregister.
com/2019/11/18/ex_unix_
sysadmin_elected_president_
sri_lanka/

197 https://itjpsl.com/
reports/gotabaya-rajapaksa-
complaint
https://cja.org/what-we-do/
litigation/wickrematunge-v-
rajapaksa/
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Established in 2013, the ITJP 
is the main body that has  
extensively investigated and 
documented unlawful detentions, 
torture and sexual violence  
in Sri Lanka. The research 
group is led by South African 
transitional justice expert, 
Yasmin Sooka, and employs 
international investigators  
who have worked for tribunals, 
the United Nations,  
and the UK's Preventing Sexual  
Violence Initiative.

	 itjpsl.com

Journalists for Democracy  
in Sri Lanka (JDS) was founded 
in 2009 by journalists, writers  
and human rights defenders 
who were forced into exile. 
The group was instrumental in 
exposing some of the gravest 
mass atrocities committed during 
the final stages of Sri Lanka's 
war while constantly monitoring 
and reporting on rights 
situation in the island.  
JDS functions as Sri Lankan 
partner organization of 
Reporters Without Borders (RSF). 

	 jdslanka.org 
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